1
4

Pentre

SN23204097                  OS 25” 1st edition VII.7               Manordeifi

Chapel and mansion were formerly listed but removed after demolition of chapel and of the front part of the mansion. No charges were brought as far as GH can discover.

Mansion with garden and arboretum are separately owned from the walled garden and the carriage drive.

St.Davids Church, Manordeifi is CADW listed because of the unusually fine contents described. (See photographs)

Home of gentry families since 16C.

17C   Parry family several generations Modest house  (1670 three hearths)  One had married a Saunders and by the end of the 17C it belonged to a Saunders.

18C   Saunders for several generations.

1770’s  Susanna, (1755-1823) sole heiress, married Dr David Davies of Carmarthen whose family hailed from Llandovery. He added the Saunders to their name and died in 1829 aged 74.

19C - 20C   Five generations of Saunders-Davies. 

1824/25   Alterations to house by C.R. Cockerill

1853   Illustration in WWHR ii p161 Francis Green “The Saunders of Pentre”.

1871   Photograph in C.S.Allen’s “The Tivyside Photographic Souvenir”:  “a low two-storied house with ranges of five windows and a pillared porch-entrance” (FJ)

1872   (County Families - Nicholas)  A. H. Saunders Davies.

1888   Arthur Picton S-D High Sheriff.  Born 1862 he was the son of Arthur Henry S-D and Fanny Grismond Philipps of Cwmgwili. Died 1922 having issue.

1879   Enlargement “stone cased and an attic storey added” (FJ) 

1923   (Kelly’s)  Arthur Owen Saunders Davies.

1924   Sale notice of 66 lots of outlying properties.

c1930   Family stopped using the formal carriage drive.  Was the wooden gate and its piers put in place at this time?  Or was this done later when D.S-D sold the farms?

1939-45  war.  Taken over by the army as a convalescent home. The RC church may have had some interest in it before the war.

c1950    Let to RC school who are said to have looked after it well.

c1965    David Saunders-Davies inherited and evicted the school. He had been a RAF pilot.  It was he who commenced rabbit beeding, felled trees along the carriage drive and planted conifers, demolished the chapel and the major part of the house.

(see “Pentre Memorial Chapel” by Baker-Jones.  Pembrokeshire Historian 1981  No. 7.)

Rabbit rearing sheds were erected in the walled garden on concrete foundations after buldosing the site; these were later sold and the present owner of the walled garden has removed and buried the concrete.  Mature trees were felled along the carriage drive and commercial conifers planted. (Present owner of walled garden and carriage drive: November 1999)

1967   County Council considered the mansion as a children’s home. At this time it is stated that it was a listed building. It had been a Roman Catholic Girls Boarding School

1971   Purchased by Wendy Parkes-Gibbon and her then husband Bruce. Garden open to the public for one year. Operated as hotel for about ten years.

The farmland was sold about 1970.  The farmer had the field to the east of the wooden gate cleared.  This involved felling the avenue and grubbing up the roots.  He also put in the hard-core road to improve access to the fields.  The east lodge lies at the other side of this field.

1991  Sale notice by John Francis of the mansion and 440 lots of contents. (see enclosed) Good colour photographs by the vendors.  The mansion was eventually sold (1996?) to Mr Paul Wynter who conducts his computer business from here. He has repaired and added to the upper attic floor. An area is being cleared at the north side of the house where business buildings will be erected.  Mr and Mrs Wynter own the gardens around the mansion containing many interesting trees and the curved drive coming in from the north and turning west towards the house.

M/s Wendy Parkes-Gibbon retained the walled garden and has built a bungalow using the local slatestone and incorporating a cubic “potting shed” at the north east corner of the garden. This is approached via the farm lane which skirts the north and west garden walls. 

She also retained the wood (enclosure 508) and the original carriage drive which curved round from a point NNE of the mansion going south and then south-west to join the present drive ENE of it together with the plantings on each side.  This land contains rhododendrons (R. ponticum single and double and a splendid pink (grafted hybrid?), box, cyclamen in abundance, beech and horse chestnut.  Unfortunately the last S-D felled most of the mature trees and replaced them with conifers.  The drive can be clearly seen if now grassed over (8a and b).  It ends at a gateway with well-built slate piers and a wooden gate with very substantial hinges (9a ,b and c) which exits on to a farm lane; opposite is a cleared field. At one time the drive passed through an avenue which was felled for its timber.  Beyond is the east lodge, now modernised and enlarged, and the impressive surviving entrance consisting of a pair of fine dressed slate piers with a decorative motif on the face of the capitals supporting iron gates, and rails laterally to narrow piers (10a, b and c).

Returning to a point near where the drive diverges from the field, there has been some quarrying on the north side of the drive which was evidently made into a garden feature such as a fernery.  The rock has been cut neatly and almost vertically to form a rectangle.  A barrel-arched “grotto” has been built against the north (slope) side of large, roughly cubic, imported stones containing much quartzite (11a and b).  It is about 2m deep, marked on the maps, but not named.  Rocks can be felt underfoot, a raised bed identified at the west end and various paths appear to enter from the woods..  A nearby wrought iron gate may have led, by footpath, from the mansion (12)

(GH was unaware of this interesting feature until taken there by the owner.)

At the north lodge (15 and 15b), where the farm lane and the working entrance to the mansion diverge, an iron gateway survives with a four-leaf-clover motif repeated four times (13).  At the side of the lodge the owner has used a reclaimed iron gate (14) but we do not know its origin.

Much of the iron railing dividing drive from the field to the south remains at the wooded section of the drive,

 (GH was unaware of this interesting feature until he was taken there by the owner)

The walled kitchen garden is about two acres in area.  It is roughly rectangular but the NW corner is replaced by a sweeping curve following the farm lane and the SW and SE corners have been built  as curves rather than as right-angles.

The walls are about 4m high of local, roughly dressed, slate. They, and the flat slate slab coping, are largely intact (1).  A piece of coping on the ground near the SE corner shows beautifully gently-curved edges to match the curve of the wall.  The present owner is gradually restoring the wall and coping. They have removed  brick courses that had been added to the south wall (2a and 2b) when the outside glasshouses were built and which were by now threatening to fall down.

The east wall had a (widened for machinery) entrance at the north end where part of the bungalow now is.  The owners intend to make an entrance south of this in due course.

(Proceeding clockwise round the inside of the garden) in the south wall is a pedestrian entrance (16)with pointed arch and then two substantial stone, lean-to, buildings which must have serviced the glasshouses behind. They are somewhat derelict and inaccessible; the second has a pit in which a boiler is said to remain (3). There are some fragments of 4” iron piping lying around but no manufacturer’s name could be found.

A metre or so beyond the second building the garden wall abruptly ends (17). Against the building there has been a (flower?) border with existing earthenware edging.  The wall resumes perhaps 10m further. The gap contained a stone and cement  base of a glasshouse which has been, unfortunately and disputedly, removed. Its length extended north to south across the line of the wall.  It did not exist at the time of the first edition maps but has appeared by the time of the second edition in 1907.  Later (aerial?) photographs clearly show it (4 and 5).  It is an unusual way to insert a glasshouse but it did (as a further lean-to would have done) afford easy access from the house without going into the garden.

The southwest corner is curved describing something less than a rightangle. There is a second pointed-arched entrance in this section leading in from the farm.  The wall now sweeps eastwards in a gentle curve straightening out to the northeast (6 and 7).  On the inside of this straight is a long low lean-to glasshoues which is collapsing (18). It is of timber with iron ventilation levers. It is shown on the first edition map but the present one must (?) be a replacement.  There is a large sunken galvanised water tank at the west end and at about 2m intervals wrought-iron arches about 1.5m high which supported longitudinal wires. Vertical iron posts against the back wall support longitudinal wiring. Access is not possible because of collapse and blackberries. There is a door at the east end with an ornate handle.  Where the wall met the potting shed(?) there was a semi-circlular light-coloured  coping stone which continued the coping upwards. It has been conserved and will, the owner states, be placed in an equivalent position where the garden wall meets the bungalow wall.

There are two old pear trees against the east wall and several free-standing apples near the north glasshouse.  There are various heaps of stone which are being retrieved and several whole and broken slate troughs. Also one limestone trough. Near the south glasshouses are carved fragments of a light-coloured stone, possibly of a sun-dial plinth.

A stream runs in pipes from N to S from near the west end of the north glasshouse. There are two or three iron grills.  The well marked on the map has been filled in.    
Photographs taken at visit to mansion 11th September 1999:
House from site of the chapel to the SW (2)

Original window (1)

Memorial tablet from the chapel (3)

(Listed) farm buildings to the west of the house (4)

Garden terrace to south of house (5,6 and 7)

Pheasantry for ornamental birds on terracing to NE of house (8a and b)

Remains of glasshouses at top of slope to the north of the house (9a and b)

South wall of kitchen garden - glasshouses on outside (10)

A fairly recent (20 years?) planting is a Japanese umbrellla pine - Sciadopitys verticillata (11).

see The Pentre Memorial Chapel  by  D.L.Baker-Jones, The Pembrokeshire Historian No 7 (1981) 

Stated that some of the stained glass was taken to the County Museum (where?) but in 1999 Scolton was unable to locate them or any record of them. (GH)

See Pevsner’s Pembrokeshire  YUP 2004 ….”some of the glass is in the County Museum”. Telephone call 25th March 2004; GH told that there has been no location; perhaps they were moved somewhere else before Scolton became the CM?

Sale Brochure  BJP April 2004  The Cottage – Pentre Farm

Sale Brochure  BJP April 2004   Pentre Farmhouse (Grade II Listed) 

Of the features listed in the RCAMW database:

cd

cov - GH is not sure what a covert is.

hh  exists in the sense that the garden is terraced and raised above the land down the slope to the outh.

lo   (two identified)

po

terr

wg

wold

wvp

Gazetteer:

Part of large house survives with terraced garden and arboretum and the bases of vineries.  Under separate ownership walled garden partially restored with some old and some recent planting; carriage drive, remains of possible fernery with grotto and some older trees. East lodge and fine entrance.

Ref:

Photograph in TL Lost Houses of Wales.

Photograph in CS Allen album South Wales (NLW 559)

Documents in file:

Text

OS 25” 1st edition (2)

Enlargements of same

OS 25” 2nd edition (photograph)

Newspaper article (?) inc photograph

Aerial photograph

Copy of CS Allen photograph (1871)

Photograph of farmyard from Western Telegraph November 1998

Letter from Wendy Dunbevand to Col Gilbertson 7th August 1994

Ditto 9th August 1994

Address and telephone numbers of owners

Letter from Recorder to Director, County Museum re chapel contents 1.9.00

Ditto 29.10.00

Letter of reply from Mark Thomas, County Museums Officer 7th Nov 00

Saunders Davies coat of arms from Manorteivi church (photo and copy)

Notes inc extract from T.Lloyd, LhoW

Colour photographs of font and pulpit at St Davids, Manorteifi

Copies of same

Colour photograph of roofscape from approach road

Memorial tablet at entrance to Manorteivi church 

Colour photographs taken at St Davids, Manorteifi (13)

Sale brochure with good colour photographs (1994) produced by vendors

Colur photographs of walled garden (5)

Colour photographs of mansion and surounds inc glasshouse bases (14)

Cardigan Brick Company work at Cardigan (1 colour photograph)

Sale Notice 1924 (1 colour photograph)

Saunders Davies pedigree (?)

Colour photographs of grounds, walled garden, drives, lodges and gates (22)

Aerial photograph 

Western Telegraph  28th April 2004  Advertisement Feature Character cottage offering considerable potential

